

23102522D

HOUSE BILL NO. 2280

Offered January 11, 2023

Prefiled January 11, 2023

A *BILL to amend and reenact §§ 16.1-337, 16.1-337.1, 16.1-338, 16.1-341, 16.1-342, 16.1-344, 16.1-345, 18.2-308.1:3, 22.1-7, 32.1-127, 54.1-2404.1, and 54.1-2969 of the Code of Virginia and to repeal § 16.1-339 of the Code of Virginia, relating to parental consent to surgical and medical treatment of certain minors; admission of minors to mental health facility for inpatient treatment.*

Patrons—LaRock, Wiley and Williams; Senator: Vogel

Referred to Committee on Health, Welfare and Institutions

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of Virginia:

1. That §§ 16.1-337, 16.1-337.1 16.1-338, 16.1-341, 16.1-342, 16.1-344, 16.1-345, 18.2-308.1:3, 22.1-7, 32.1-127, 54.1-2404.1, and 54.1-2969 of the Code of Virginia are amended and reenacted as follows:

§ 16.1-337. Inpatient treatment of minors; general applicability; disclosure of records.

A. A minor may be admitted to a mental health facility for inpatient treatment only pursuant to § 16.1-338; ~~16.1-339~~, or 16.1-340.1 or in accordance with an order of involuntary commitment entered pursuant to §§ 16.1-341 through 16.1-345. The provisions of Article 12 (§ 16.1-299 et seq.) of Chapter 11 and § 16.1-337.1 relating to the confidentiality of files, papers, and records shall apply to proceedings under this article.

B. Any health care provider, as defined in § 32.1-127.1:03, or other provider rendering services to a minor who is the subject of proceedings under this article, upon request, shall disclose to a magistrate, the juvenile intake officer, the court, the minor's attorney, the minor's guardian ad litem, the qualified evaluator performing the evaluation required under §§ 16.1-338; ~~16.1-339~~, and 16.1-342, the community services board or its designee performing the evaluation, preadmission screening, or monitoring duties under this article, or a law-enforcement officer any and all information that is necessary and appropriate to enable each of them to perform his duties under this article. These health care providers and other service providers shall disclose to one another health records and information where necessary to provide care and treatment to the person and to monitor that care and treatment. Health records disclosed to a law-enforcement officer shall be limited to information necessary to protect the officer, the minor, or the public from physical injury or to address the health care needs of the minor. Information disclosed to a law-enforcement officer shall not be used for any other purpose, disclosed to others, or retained.

Any health care provider providing services to a minor who is the subject of proceedings under this article shall make a reasonable attempt to notify the minor's parent of information that is directly relevant to such individual's involvement with the minor's health care, which may include the minor's location and general condition, in accordance with subdivision D 34 of § 32.1-127.1:03, unless the provider has actual knowledge that the parent is currently prohibited by court order from contacting the minor. No health care provider shall be required to notify a person's family member or personal representative pursuant to this section if the health care provider has actual knowledge that such notice has been provided.

Any health care provider disclosing records pursuant to this section shall be immune from civil liability for any harm resulting from the disclosure, including any liability under the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (42 U.S.C. § 1320d et seq.), as amended, unless the person or provider disclosing such records intended the harm or acted in bad faith.

C. Any order entered where a minor is the subject of proceedings under this article shall provide for the disclosure of health records pursuant to subsection B. This subsection shall not preclude any other disclosures as required or permitted by law.

§ 16.1-337.1. Order of involuntary commitment or mandatory outpatient treatment forwarded to Central Criminal Records Exchange; certain voluntary admissions forwarded to Central Criminal Records Exchange; firearm background check.

A. The order from a commitment hearing issued pursuant to this article for involuntary admission or mandatory outpatient treatment for a minor ~~14 years of age or older~~ and the certification of any minor ~~14 years of age or older~~ who has been the subject of a temporary detention order pursuant to § 16.1-340.1 and ~~who whose~~ parents, after being advised by the court that he will be prohibited from possessing a firearm pursuant to § 18.2-308.1:3, subsequently agreed to ~~voluntary~~ admission pursuant to § 16.1-338 shall be filed by the court with the clerk of the juvenile and domestic relations district court

INTRODUCED

HB2280

59 for the county or city where the hearing took place as soon as practicable but no later than the close of
60 business on the next business day following the completion of the hearing.

61 B. Upon receipt of any order from a commitment hearing issued pursuant to this article for
62 involuntary admission of a minor 14 years of age or older to a facility, the clerk of court shall, as soon
63 as practicable but no later than the close of business on the next following business day, certify and
64 forward to the Central Criminal Records Exchange, on a form provided by the Exchange, a copy of the
65 order. Upon receipt of any order from a commitment hearing issued pursuant to this article for
66 mandatory outpatient treatment of a minor 14 years of age or older, the clerk of court shall, prior to the
67 close of that business day, certify and forward to the Central Criminal Records Exchange, on a form
68 provided by the Exchange, a copy of the order.

69 C. The clerk of court shall also, as soon as practicable but no later than the close of business on the
70 next following business day, forward upon receipt to the Central Criminal Records Exchange, on a form
71 provided by the Exchange, certification of any minor 14 years of age or older who has been the subject
72 of a temporary detention order pursuant to § 16.1-340.1 and ~~who~~ *whose parents*, after being advised by
73 the court that he will be prohibited from possessing a firearm pursuant to § 18.2-308.1:3, subsequently
74 agreed to ~~voluntary~~ admission pursuant to § 16.1-338.

75 D. Except as provided in subdivision A 1 of § 19.2-389, the copy of the forms and orders sent to the
76 Central Criminal Records Exchange pursuant to subsection B, and the forms and certifications sent to
77 the Central Criminal Records Exchange regarding ~~voluntary~~ admission pursuant to subsection C, shall be
78 kept confidential in a separate file and used only to determine a person's eligibility to possess, purchase,
79 or transfer a firearm. No medical records shall be forwarded to the Central Criminal Records Exchange
80 with any form, order, or certification required by subsection B or C. The Department of State Police
81 shall forward only a person's eligibility to possess, purchase, or transfer a firearm to the National Instant
82 Criminal Background Check System.

83 **§ 16.1-338. Parental admission of minors.**

84 A. A minor ~~younger than 14 years of age~~ may be admitted to a willing mental health facility for
85 inpatient treatment upon application and with the *written and informed* consent of a parent. ~~A minor 14~~
86 ~~years of age or older may be admitted to a willing mental health facility for inpatient treatment upon the~~
87 ~~joint application and consent of the minor and the minor's parent.~~

88 B. Admission of a minor under this section shall be approved by a qualified evaluator who has
89 conducted a personal examination of the minor within 48 hours after admission and has made the
90 following written findings:

91 1. The minor appears to have a mental illness serious enough to warrant inpatient treatment and is
92 reasonably likely to benefit from the treatment; and

93 2. The minor ~~has~~ *and the minor's parent* have been provided with a clinically appropriate explanation
94 of the nature and purpose of the treatment; and

95 3. ~~If the~~ *The* minor is 14 years of age or older, ~~that he has~~ *and the minor's parent* have been
96 provided with an explanation of his rights under this Act as ~~they would apply if he were to object to~~
97 ~~admission; and that he has consented to admission; and~~

98 4. All available modalities of treatment less restrictive than inpatient treatment have been considered
99 and no less restrictive alternative is available that would offer comparable benefits to the minor.

100 If admission is sought to a state hospital, the community services board serving the area in which the
101 minor resides shall provide, in lieu of the examination required by this section, a preadmission screening
102 report conducted by an employee or designee of the community services board and shall ensure that the
103 necessary written findings have been made before approving the admission. A copy of the written
104 findings of the evaluation or preadmission screening report required by this section shall be provided to
105 the consenting parent and the parent shall have the opportunity to discuss the findings with the qualified
106 evaluator or employee or designee of the community services board.

107 C. Within 10 days after the admission of a minor under this section, the director of the facility or the
108 director's designee shall ensure that an individualized plan of treatment has been prepared by the
109 provider responsible for the minor's treatment and has been explained to the parent consenting to the
110 admission and to the minor. The minor shall be involved in the preparation of the plan to the maximum
111 feasible extent consistent with his ability to understand and participate, and the minor's family shall be
112 involved to the maximum extent consistent with the minor's treatment needs. The plan shall include a
113 preliminary plan for placement and aftercare upon completion of inpatient treatment and shall include
114 specific behavioral and emotional goals against which the success of treatment may be measured. A
115 copy of the plan shall be provided to the minor and to his parents.

116 D. If the parent who consented to a minor's admission under this section revokes his consent at any
117 time, ~~or if a minor 14 or older objects at any time to further treatment~~, the minor shall be discharged
118 within 48 hours to the custody of such consenting parent unless the minor's continued hospitalization is
119 authorized pursuant to § ~~16.1-339~~, 16.1-340.1, or 16.1-345. If the 48-hour time period expires on a
120 Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or day on which the court is lawfully closed, the 48 hours shall extend

to the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or day on which the court is lawfully closed. If a minor 14 or older objects to further treatment, the mental health facility shall (i) immediately notify the consenting parent of the minor's objections and (ii) provide to the consenting parent a summary, prepared by the Office of the Attorney General, of the procedures for requesting continued treatment of the minor pursuant to § 16.1-339, 16.1-340.1, or 16.1-345.

E. Inpatient treatment of a minor hospitalized under this section may not exceed 90 consecutive days unless it has been authorized by appropriate hospital medical personnel, based upon their written findings that the criteria set forth in subsection B of this section continue to be met, after such persons have examined the minor and interviewed the consenting parent and reviewed reports submitted by members of the facility staff familiar with the minor's condition.

F. Any minor admitted under this section while younger than 14 and his consenting parent shall be informed orally and in writing by the director of the facility for inpatient treatment within 10 days of his fourteenth birthday that continued voluntary treatment under the authority of this section requires his consent.

G. Any minor 14 years of age or older who joins in an application and consents to admission pursuant to subsection A, shall, in addition to his parent, have the right to access his health information. The concurrent authorization of both the parent and the minor shall be required to disclose such minor's health information.

H. A minor who has been hospitalized while properly detained by a juvenile and domestic relations district court or circuit court shall be returned to the detention home, shelter care, or other facility approved by the Department of Juvenile Justice by the sheriff serving the jurisdiction where the minor was detained within 24 hours following completion of a period of inpatient treatment, unless the court having jurisdiction over the case orders that the minor be released from custody.

§ 16.1-341. Involuntary commitment; petition; hearing scheduled; notice and appointment of counsel.

A. A petition for the involuntary commitment of a minor may be filed with the juvenile and domestic relations district court serving the jurisdiction in which the minor is located by a parent or, if the parent is not available or is unable or unwilling to file a petition, by any responsible adult, including the person having custody over a minor in detention or shelter care pursuant to an order of a juvenile and domestic relations district court. The petition shall include the name and address of the petitioner and the minor and shall set forth in specific terms why the petitioner believes the minor meets the criteria for involuntary commitment specified in § 16.1-345. To the extent available, the petition shall contain the information required by § 16.1-339.1. The petition shall be taken under oath.

If a commitment hearing has been scheduled pursuant to subdivision 3 of subsection C of § 16.1-339, the petition for judicial approval filed by the facility under subsection C of § 16.1-339 shall serve as the petition for involuntary commitment as long as such petition complies in substance with the provisions of this subsection.

B. Upon the filing of a petition for involuntary commitment of a minor, the juvenile and domestic relations district court serving the jurisdiction in which the minor is located shall schedule a hearing, which shall occur no sooner than 24 hours and no later than 96 hours from the time the petition was filed or from the issuance of the temporary detention order as provided in § 16.1-340.1, whichever occurs later; or from the time of the hearing held pursuant to subsection C of § 16.1-339 if the commitment hearing has been conducted pursuant to subdivision C 3 of § 16.1-339. If the 96-hour period expires on a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or day on which the court is lawfully closed, the 96 hours shall be extended to the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or day on which the court is lawfully closed. The attorney for the minor, the guardian ad litem for the minor, the attorney for the Commonwealth in the jurisdiction giving rise to the detention, and the juvenile and domestic relations district court having jurisdiction over any minor in detention or shelter care shall be given notice prior to the hearing.

If the petition is not dismissed or withdrawn, copies of the petition, together with a notice of the hearing, shall be served immediately upon the minor and the minor's parents, if they are not petitioners, by the sheriffs of the jurisdictions in which the minor and his parents are located. The hearing on the petition may proceed if the court determines that copies of the petition and notice of the hearing have been served on at least one parent and a reasonable effort has been made to serve such copies on both parents. No later than 24 hours before the hearing, the court shall appoint a guardian ad litem for the minor and counsel to represent the minor, unless it has determined that the minor has retained counsel. Upon the request of the minor's counsel, for good cause shown, and after notice to the petitioner and all other persons receiving notice of the hearing, the court may continue the hearing once for a period not to exceed 96 hours.

Any recommendation made by a state mental health facility or state hospital regarding the minor's involuntary commitment may be admissible during the course of the hearing.

§ 16.1-342. Involuntary commitment; clinical evaluation.

A. Upon the filing of a petition for involuntary commitment, the juvenile and domestic relations district court shall direct the community services board serving the area in which the minor is located to arrange for an evaluation by a qualified evaluator; ~~if one has not already been performed pursuant to subsection B of § 16.1-339.~~ All such evaluations shall be conducted in private. In conducting a clinical evaluation of a minor in detention or shelter care, if the evaluator finds, irrespective of the fact that the minor has been detained, that the minor meets the criteria for involuntary commitment in § 16.1-345, the evaluator shall recommend that the minor meets the criteria for involuntary commitment. The petitioner, all public agencies, and all providers or programs which have treated or who are treating the minor, shall cooperate with the evaluator and shall promptly deliver, upon request and without charge, all records of treatment or education of the minor. At least 24 hours before the scheduled hearing, the evaluator shall submit to the court a written report which includes the evaluator's opinion regarding whether the minor meets the criteria for involuntary commitment specified in § 16.1-345. A copy of the evaluator's report shall be provided to the minor's guardian ad litem and to the minor's counsel. The evaluator, if not physically present at the hearing, shall be available for questioning during the hearing through a two-way electronic video and audio or telephonic communication system as authorized in § 16.1-345.1. When the qualified evaluator attends the hearing in person or by electronic communication, he shall not be excluded from the hearing pursuant to an order of sequestration of witnesses.

B. Any evaluation conducted pursuant to this section shall be a comprehensive evaluation of the minor conducted in-person or, if that is not practicable, by a two-way electronic video and audio communication system as authorized in § 16.1-345.1. Translation or interpreter services shall be provided during the evaluation where necessary. The examination shall consist of (i) a clinical assessment that includes a mental status examination; determination of current use of psychotropic and other medications; a medical and psychiatric history; a substance use, abuse, or dependency determination; and a determination of the likelihood that, because of mental illness, the minor is experiencing a serious deterioration of his ability to care for himself in a developmentally age-appropriate manner, as evidenced by delusional thinking or by a significant impairment of functioning in hydration, nutrition, self-protection, or self-control; (ii) a substance abuse screening, when indicated; (iii) a risk assessment that includes an evaluation of the likelihood that, because of mental illness, the minor presents a serious danger to himself or others to the extent that severe or irreparable injury is likely to result, as evidenced by recent acts or threats; (iv) for a minor 14 years of age or older, an assessment of the minor's capacity to consent to treatment, including his ability to maintain and communicate choice, understand relevant information, and comprehend the situation and its consequences; (v) if prior to the examination the minor has been temporarily detained pursuant to this article, a review of the temporary detention facility's records for the minor, including the treating physician's evaluation, any collateral information, reports of any laboratory or toxicology tests conducted, and all admission forms and nurses' notes; (vi) a discussion of treatment preferences expressed by the minor or his parents or contained in a document provided by the minor or his parents in support of recovery; (vii) an assessment of alternatives to involuntary inpatient treatment; and (viii) recommendations for the placement, care, and treatment of the minor.

§ 16.1-344. Involuntary commitment; hearing.

A. The court shall summon to the hearing all material witnesses requested by either the ~~minor~~ *minor's parents* or the petitioner. All testimony shall be under oath. The rules of evidence shall apply. The petitioner, ~~minor~~ *minor's parents* and, with leave of court for good cause shown, any other person shall be given the opportunity to present evidence and cross-examine witnesses. The hearing shall be closed to the public unless the ~~minor~~ *minor's parents* and petitioner request that it be open.

B. At the commencement of the hearing involving a minor ~~14 years of age or older~~, the court shall inform the *parents of the* minor whose involuntary commitment is being sought of his right to be ~~voluntarily~~ admitted for inpatient treatment as provided for in § 16.1-338 and shall afford the ~~minor~~ *minor's parents* an opportunity for ~~voluntary to consent to such admission; provided that the minor's parent consents to such voluntary admission.~~ The court shall advise the *parents of the* minor whose involuntary commitment is being sought that if the minor ~~chooses to be voluntarily~~ is admitted pursuant to § 16.1-338, such minor will be prohibited from possessing, purchasing, or transporting a firearm pursuant to § 18.2-308.1:3. ~~In determining whether a minor is capable of consenting to voluntary admission, the court may consider evidence regarding the minor's past compliance or noncompliance with treatment.~~

C. An employee or a designee of the community services board that arranged for the evaluation of the minor shall attend the hearing in person or, if physical attendance is not practicable, shall participate in the hearing through a two-way electronic video and audio or telephonic communication system as authorized in § 16.1-345.1. If (i) the minor does not reside in the jurisdiction served by the juvenile and domestic relations district court that conducts the hearing and (ii) the minor is being considered for mandatory outpatient treatment pursuant to § 16.1-345.2, an employee or designee of the community

services board serving the area where the minor resides shall also attend the hearing in person or, if physical attendance is not practicable, shall participate in the hearing through a two-way electronic video and audio or telephonic communication system as authorized in § 16.1-345.1. The employee or designee of the community services board serving the area where the minor resides may, instead of attending the hearing, make arrangements with the community services board that arranged for the evaluation of the minor to present on its behalf the recommendations for a specific course of treatment and programs for the provision of mandatory outpatient treatment required by subsection C of § 16.1-345.2 and the initial mandatory outpatient treatment plan required by subsection D of § 16.1-345.2. When a community services board attends the hearing on behalf of the community services board serving the area where the minor resides, the attending community services board shall inform the community services board serving the area where the minor resides of the disposition of the matter upon the conclusion of the hearing. In addition, the attending community services board shall transmit the disposition through certified mail, personal delivery, facsimile with return receipt acknowledged, or other electronic means to the community services board serving the area where the minor resides. Any employee or designee of the community services board attending or participating in the hearing shall not be excluded from the hearing pursuant to an order of sequestration of witnesses.

At least 12 hours prior to the hearing, the court shall provide the time and location of the hearing to the community services board that arranged for the evaluation of the minor. If the community services board will be present by telephonic means, the court shall provide the telephone number to the board.

§ 16.1-345. Involuntary commitment; criteria.

After observing the minor and considering (i) the recommendations of any treating or examining physician or psychologist licensed in Virginia, if available, (ii) any past actions of the minor, (iii) any past mental health treatment of the minor, (iv) any qualified evaluator's report, (v) any medical records available, (vi) the preadmission screening report, and (vii) any other evidence that may have been admitted, the court shall order the involuntary commitment of the minor to a mental health facility for treatment for a period not to exceed 90 days if it finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that:

1. Because of mental illness, the minor (i) presents a serious danger to himself or others to the extent that severe or irremediable injury is likely to result, as evidenced by recent acts or threats or (ii) is experiencing a serious deterioration of his ability to care for himself in a developmentally age-appropriate manner, as evidenced by delusional thinking or by a significant impairment of functioning in hydration, nutrition, self-protection, or self-control;

2. The minor is in need of compulsory treatment for a mental illness and is reasonably likely to benefit from the proposed treatment; and

3. If the court finds that inpatient treatment is not the least restrictive treatment, the court shall consider entering an order for mandatory outpatient treatment pursuant to § 16.1-345.2.

Upon the expiration of an order for involuntary commitment, the minor shall be released unless he is involuntarily admitted by further petition and order of a court, which shall be for a period not to exceed 90 days from the date of the subsequent court order, or the minor or his parent rescinds the objection to inpatient treatment and consents to admission pursuant to § 16.1-338 or subsection D of § 16.1-339 or the minor is ordered to mandatory outpatient treatment pursuant to § 16.1-345.2.

A minor who has been hospitalized while properly detained by a juvenile and domestic relations district court shall be returned to the detention home, shelter care, or other facility approved by the Department of Juvenile Justice by the sheriff serving the jurisdiction where the minor was detained within 24 hours following completion of a period of inpatient treatment, unless the court having jurisdiction over the case orders that the minor be released from custody. However, such a minor shall not be eligible for mandatory outpatient treatment.

In conducting an evaluation of a minor who has been properly detained, if the evaluator finds, irrespective of the fact that the minor has been detained, that the minor meets the criteria for involuntary commitment in this section, the evaluator shall recommend that the minor meets the criteria for involuntary commitment.

If the parent or parents with whom the minor resides are not willing to approve the proposed commitment, the court shall order inpatient treatment only if it finds, in addition to the criteria specified in this section, that such treatment is necessary to protect the minor's life, health, safety, or normal development. If a special justice believes that issuance of a removal order or protective order may be in the child's best interest, the special justice shall report the matter to the local department of social services for the county or city where the minor resides.

Upon finding that the best interests of the minor so require, the court may enter an order directing either or both of the minor's parents to comply with reasonable conditions relating to the minor's treatment.

If the minor is committed to inpatient treatment, such placement shall be in a mental health facility for inpatient treatment designated by the community services board which serves the political

subdivision in which the minor was evaluated pursuant to § 16.1-342. If the community services board does not provide a placement recommendation at the hearing, the minor shall be placed in a mental health facility designated by the Commissioner of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services.

When a minor has been involuntarily committed pursuant to this section, the judge shall determine, after consideration of information provided by the minor's treating mental health professional and any involved community services board staff regarding the minor's dangerousness, whether transportation shall be provided by the sheriff or may be provided by an alternative transportation provider, including a parent, family member, or friend of the minor, a representative of the community services board, a representative of the facility at which the minor was detained pursuant to a temporary detention order, or other alternative transportation provider with personnel trained to provide transportation in a safe manner. If the judge determines that transportation may be provided by an alternative transportation provider, the judge may consult with the proposed alternative transportation provider either in person or via two-way electronic video and audio or telephone communication system to determine whether the proposed alternative transportation provider is available to provide transportation, willing to provide transportation, and able to provide transportation in a safe manner. If the judge finds that the proposed alternative transportation provider is available to provide transportation, willing to provide transportation, and able to provide transportation in a safe manner, the judge may order transportation by the proposed alternative transportation provider. In all other cases, the judge shall order transportation by the sheriff of the jurisdiction where the minor is a resident unless the sheriff's office of that jurisdiction is located more than 100 road miles from the nearest boundary of the jurisdiction in which the proceedings took place. In cases where the sheriff of the jurisdiction in which the minor is a resident is more than 100 road miles from the nearest boundary of the jurisdiction in which the proceedings took place, it shall be the responsibility of the sheriff of the latter jurisdiction to transport the minor.

If the judge determines that the minor requires transportation by the sheriff, the sheriff, as specified in this section shall transport the minor to the proper facility. In no event shall transport commence later than six hours after notification to the sheriff or alternative transportation provider of the judge's order.

If an alternative transportation provider providing transportation of a minor becomes unable to continue providing transportation of the minor at any time after taking custody of the minor, the primary law-enforcement agency for the jurisdiction in which the alternative transportation provider is located at the time he becomes unable to continue providing transportation shall take custody of the minor and shall transport the minor to the proper facility. In such cases, if the alternative transportation provider originally authorized to provide transportation is a person other than the minor's parent, the alternative transportation provider shall notify the minor's parent (a) that the primary law-enforcement agency for the jurisdiction in which he is located has taken custody of the minor and is transporting the minor to the facility of temporary detention and (b) of the name of the law-enforcement officer providing transportation of the minor.

No person who provides alternative transportation pursuant to this section shall be liable to the person being transported for any civil damages for ordinary negligence in acts or omissions that result from providing such alternative transportation.

§ 18.2-308.1:3. Purchase, possession, or transportation of firearm by persons involuntarily admitted or ordered to outpatient treatment; penalty.

A. It shall be unlawful for any person (i) involuntarily admitted to a facility or ordered to mandatory outpatient treatment pursuant to § 19.2-169.2; (ii) involuntarily admitted to a facility or ordered to mandatory outpatient treatment as the result of a commitment hearing pursuant to Article 5 (§ 37.2-814 et seq.) of Chapter 8 of Title 37.2, notwithstanding the outcome of any appeal taken pursuant to § 37.2-821; (iii) involuntarily admitted to a facility or ordered to mandatory outpatient treatment as a minor ~~14 years of age or older~~ as the result of a commitment hearing pursuant to Article 16 (§ 16.1-335 et seq.) of Chapter 11 of Title 16.1, notwithstanding the outcome of any appeal taken pursuant to § 16.1-345.6; (iv) who was the subject of a temporary detention order pursuant to § 37.2-809 and subsequently agreed to voluntary admission pursuant to § 37.2-805; (v) who, as a minor ~~14 years of age or older~~, was the subject of a temporary detention order pursuant to § 16.1-340.1 and *whose parents* subsequently agreed to ~~voluntary~~ admission pursuant to § 16.1-338; or (vi) who was found incompetent to stand trial and likely to remain so for the foreseeable future and whose case was disposed of in accordance with § 19.2-169.3, to purchase, possess, or transport a firearm. A violation of this subsection shall be punishable as a Class 1 misdemeanor.

B. Any person prohibited from purchasing, possessing or transporting firearms under this section may, at any time following his release from involuntary admission to a facility, his release from an order of mandatory outpatient treatment, his release from voluntary admission pursuant to § 37.2-805 following the issuance of a temporary detention order, his release from a training center, or his release as provided by § 19.2-169.3, petition the general district court in the city or county in which he resides or, if the person is not a resident of the Commonwealth, the general district court of the city or county in which the most recent of the proceedings described in subsection A occurred to restore his right to

purchase, possess, or transport a firearm. A copy of the petition shall be mailed or delivered to the attorney for the Commonwealth for the jurisdiction where the petition was filed who shall be entitled to respond and represent the interests of the Commonwealth. The court shall conduct a hearing if requested by either party. If the court determines, after receiving and considering evidence concerning the circumstances regarding the disabilities referred to in subsection A and the person's criminal history, treatment record, and reputation as developed through character witness statements, testimony, or other character evidence, that the person will not likely act in a manner dangerous to public safety and that granting the relief would not be contrary to the public interest, the court shall grant the petition. Any person denied relief by the general district court may petition the circuit court for a de novo review of the denial. Upon a grant of relief in any court, the court shall enter a written order granting the petition, in which event the provisions of subsection A do not apply. The clerk of court shall certify and forward forthwith to the Central Criminal Records Exchange, on a form provided by the Exchange, a copy of any such order.

C. As used in this section, "treatment record" shall include copies of health records detailing the petitioner's psychiatric history, which shall include the records pertaining to the commitment or adjudication that is the subject of the request for relief pursuant to this section.

§ 22.1-7. Responsibility of each state board, agency, and institution having children in residence or in custody.

A. Each state board, state agency, and state institution having children in residence or in custody shall have responsibility for providing for the education and training to such children which is at least comparable to that which would be provided to such children in the public school system. Such board, agency, or institution may provide such education and training either directly with its own facilities and personnel in cooperation with the Board of Education or under contract with a school division or any other public or private nonreligious school, agency, or institution.

B. The Board of Education shall supervise the education and training provided to school-age individuals in state training centers, and shall provide for and direct the education for school-age individuals in state hospitals operated by the Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services in cooperation with the Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services.

C. The Board shall prescribe standards and regulations for all such education and training provided directly by a state board, state agency, or state institution.

D. Each state board, state agency, or state institution providing such education and training shall submit annually its program therefor to the Board of Education for approval in accordance with regulations of the Board.

E. If any child in the custody of any state board, state agency, or state institution is a child with disabilities as defined in § 22.1-213 and such board, agency, or institution must contract with a private nonreligious school to provide special education as defined in § 22.1-213 for such child, the state board, state agency, or state institution may proceed as a guardian pursuant to the provisions of subsection A of § 22.1-218.

F. Any person of school age who is admitted pursuant to § 16.1-338, ~~16.1-339~~, or 16.1-340.1 or in accordance with an order of involuntary commitment entered pursuant to §§ 16.1-341 through 16.1-345 to a state facility for children and adolescents operated by the Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Services shall, upon admission, be permitted to participate in any education program offered in the facility that is administered by the Department of Education, regardless of his enrollment status. Information required to enroll such person in any such education program may be disclosed in accordance with state and federal law. Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to require enrollment in an education program if such person has been excused from attendance at school pursuant to subdivision B 1 of § 22.1-254.

§ 32.1-127. Regulations.

A. The regulations promulgated by the Board to carry out the provisions of this article shall be in substantial conformity to the standards of health, hygiene, sanitation, construction and safety as established and recognized by medical and health care professionals and by specialists in matters of public health and safety, including health and safety standards established under provisions of Title XVIII and Title XIX of the Social Security Act, and to the provisions of Article 2 (§ 32.1-138 et seq.).

B. Such regulations:

1. Shall include minimum standards for (i) the construction and maintenance of hospitals, nursing homes and certified nursing facilities to ensure the environmental protection and the life safety of its patients, employees, and the public; (ii) the operation, staffing and equipping of hospitals, nursing homes and certified nursing facilities; (iii) qualifications and training of staff of hospitals, nursing homes and certified nursing facilities, except those professionals licensed or certified by the Department of Health Professions; (iv) conditions under which a hospital or nursing home may provide medical and nursing services to patients in their places of residence; and (v) policies related to infection prevention, disaster

428 preparedness, and facility security of hospitals, nursing homes, and certified nursing facilities;

429 2. Shall provide that at least one physician who is licensed to practice medicine in this
430 Commonwealth shall be on call at all times, though not necessarily physically present on the premises,
431 at each hospital which operates or holds itself out as operating an emergency service;

432 3. May classify hospitals and nursing homes by type of specialty or service and may provide for
433 licensing hospitals and nursing homes by bed capacity and by type of specialty or service;

434 4. Shall also require that each hospital establish a protocol for organ donation, in compliance with
435 federal law and the regulations of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), particularly
436 42 C.F.R. § 482.45. Each hospital shall have an agreement with an organ procurement organization
437 designated in CMS regulations for routine contact, whereby the provider's designated organ procurement
438 organization certified by CMS (i) is notified in a timely manner of all deaths or imminent deaths of
439 patients in the hospital and (ii) is authorized to determine the suitability of the decedent or patient for
440 organ donation and, in the absence of a similar arrangement with any eye bank or tissue bank in
441 Virginia certified by the Eye Bank Association of America or the American Association of Tissue
442 Banks, the suitability for tissue and eye donation. The hospital shall also have an agreement with at least
443 one tissue bank and at least one eye bank to cooperate in the retrieval, processing, preservation, storage,
444 and distribution of tissues and eyes to ensure that all usable tissues and eyes are obtained from potential
445 donors and to avoid interference with organ procurement. The protocol shall ensure that the hospital
446 collaborates with the designated organ procurement organization to inform the family of each potential
447 donor of the option to donate organs, tissues, or eyes or to decline to donate. The individual making
448 contact with the family shall have completed a course in the methodology for approaching potential
449 donor families and requesting organ or tissue donation that (a) is offered or approved by the organ
450 procurement organization and designed in conjunction with the tissue and eye bank community and (b)
451 encourages discretion and sensitivity according to the specific circumstances, views, and beliefs of the
452 relevant family. In addition, the hospital shall work cooperatively with the designated organ procurement
453 organization in educating the staff responsible for contacting the organ procurement organization's
454 personnel on donation issues, the proper review of death records to improve identification of potential
455 donors, and the proper procedures for maintaining potential donors while necessary testing and
456 placement of potential donated organs, tissues, and eyes takes place. This process shall be followed,
457 without exception, unless the family of the relevant decedent or patient has expressed opposition to
458 organ donation, the chief administrative officer of the hospital or his designee knows of such opposition,
459 and no donor card or other relevant document, such as an advance directive, can be found;

460 5. Shall require that each hospital that provides obstetrical services establish a protocol for admission
461 or transfer of any pregnant woman who presents herself while in labor;

462 6. Shall also require that each licensed hospital develop and implement a protocol requiring written
463 discharge plans for identified, substance-abusing, postpartum women and their infants. The protocol shall
464 require that the discharge plan be discussed with the patient and that appropriate referrals for the mother
465 and the infant be made and documented. Appropriate referrals may include, but need not be limited to,
466 treatment services, comprehensive early intervention services for infants and toddlers with disabilities
467 and their families pursuant to Part H of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C.
468 § 1471 et seq., and family-oriented prevention services. The discharge planning process shall involve, to
469 the extent possible, the other parent of the infant and any members of the patient's extended family who
470 may participate in the follow-up care for the mother and the infant. Immediately upon identification,
471 pursuant to § 54.1-2403.1, of any substance-abusing, postpartum woman, the hospital shall notify,
472 subject to federal law restrictions, the community services board of the jurisdiction in which the woman
473 resides to appoint a discharge plan manager. The community services board shall implement and manage
474 the discharge plan;

475 7. Shall require that each nursing home and certified nursing facility fully disclose to the applicant
476 for admission the home's or facility's admissions policies, including any preferences given;

477 8. Shall require that each licensed hospital establish a protocol relating to the rights and
478 responsibilities of patients which shall include a process reasonably designed to inform patients of such
479 rights and responsibilities. Such rights and responsibilities of patients, a copy of which shall be given to
480 patients on admission, shall be consistent with applicable federal law and regulations of the Centers for
481 Medicare and Medicaid Services;

482 9. Shall establish standards and maintain a process for designation of levels or categories of care in
483 neonatal services according to an applicable national or state-developed evaluation system. Such
484 standards may be differentiated for various levels or categories of care and may include, but need not be
485 limited to, requirements for staffing credentials, staff/patient ratios, equipment, and medical protocols;

486 10. Shall require that each nursing home and certified nursing facility train all employees who are
487 mandated to report adult abuse, neglect, or exploitation pursuant to § 63.2-1606 on such reporting
488 procedures and the consequences for failing to make a required report;

489 11. Shall permit hospital personnel, as designated in medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, or

hospital policies and procedures, to accept emergency telephone and other verbal orders for medication or treatment for hospital patients from physicians, and other persons lawfully authorized by state statute to give patient orders, subject to a requirement that such verbal order be signed, within a reasonable period of time not to exceed 72 hours as specified in the hospital's medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations or hospital policies and procedures, by the person giving the order, or, when such person is not available within the period of time specified, co-signed by another physician or other person authorized to give the order;

12. Shall require, unless the vaccination is medically contraindicated or the resident declines the offer of the vaccination, that each certified nursing facility and nursing home provide or arrange for the administration to its residents of (i) an annual vaccination against influenza and (ii) a pneumococcal vaccination, in accordance with the most recent recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention;

13. Shall require that each nursing home and certified nursing facility register with the Department of State Police to receive notice of the registration, reregistration, or verification of registration information of any person required to register with the Sex Offender and Crimes Against Minors Registry pursuant to Chapter 9 (§ 9.1-900 et seq.) of Title 9.1 within the same or a contiguous zip code area in which the home or facility is located, pursuant to § 9.1-914;

14. Shall require that each nursing home and certified nursing facility ascertain, prior to admission, whether a potential patient is required to register with the Sex Offender and Crimes Against Minors Registry pursuant to Chapter 9 (§ 9.1-900 et seq.) of Title 9.1, if the home or facility anticipates the potential patient will have a length of stay greater than three days or in fact stays longer than three days;

15. Shall require that each licensed hospital include in its visitation policy a provision allowing each adult patient to receive visits from any individual from whom the patient desires to receive visits, subject to other restrictions contained in the visitation policy including, but not limited to, those related to the patient's medical condition and the number of visitors permitted in the patient's room simultaneously;

16. Shall require that each nursing home and certified nursing facility shall, upon the request of the facility's family council, send notices and information about the family council mutually developed by the family council and the administration of the nursing home or certified nursing facility, and provided to the facility for such purpose, to the listed responsible party or a contact person of the resident's choice up to six times per year. Such notices may be included together with a monthly billing statement or other regular communication. Notices and information shall also be posted in a designated location within the nursing home or certified nursing facility. No family member of a resident or other resident representative shall be restricted from participating in meetings in the facility with the families or resident representatives of other residents in the facility;

17. Shall require that each nursing home and certified nursing facility maintain liability insurance coverage in a minimum amount of \$1 million, and professional liability coverage in an amount at least equal to the recovery limit set forth in § 8.01-581.15, to compensate patients or individuals for injuries and losses resulting from the negligent or criminal acts of the facility. Failure to maintain such minimum insurance shall result in revocation of the facility's license;

18. Shall require each hospital that provides obstetrical services to establish policies to follow when a stillbirth, as defined in § 32.1-69.1, occurs that meet the guidelines pertaining to counseling patients and their families and other aspects of managing stillbirths as may be specified by the Board in its regulations;

19. Shall require each nursing home to provide a full refund of any unexpended patient funds on deposit with the facility following the discharge or death of a patient, other than entrance-related fees paid to a continuing care provider as defined in § 38.2-4900, within 30 days of a written request for such funds by the discharged patient or, in the case of the death of a patient, the person administering the person's estate in accordance with the Virginia Small Estates Act (§ 64.2-600 et seq.);

20. Shall require that each hospital that provides inpatient psychiatric services establish a protocol that requires, for any refusal to admit (i) a medically stable patient referred to its psychiatric unit, direct verbal communication between the on-call physician in the psychiatric unit and the referring physician, if requested by such referring physician, and prohibits on-call physicians or other hospital staff from refusing a request for such direct verbal communication by a referring physician and (ii) a patient for whom there is a question regarding the medical stability or medical appropriateness of admission for inpatient psychiatric services due to a situation involving results of a toxicology screening, the on-call physician in the psychiatric unit to which the patient is sought to be transferred to participate in direct verbal communication, either in person or via telephone, with a clinical toxicologist or other person who is a Certified Specialist in Poison Information employed by a poison control center that is accredited by the American Association of Poison Control Centers to review the results of the toxicology screen and

determine whether a medical reason for refusing admission to the psychiatric unit related to the results of the toxicology screen exists, if requested by the referring physician;

21. Shall require that each hospital that is equipped to provide life-sustaining treatment shall develop a policy governing determination of the medical and ethical appropriateness of proposed medical care, which shall include (i) a process for obtaining a second opinion regarding the medical and ethical appropriateness of proposed medical care in cases in which a physician has determined proposed care to be medically or ethically inappropriate; (ii) provisions for review of the determination that proposed medical care is medically or ethically inappropriate by an interdisciplinary medical review committee and a determination by the interdisciplinary medical review committee regarding the medical and ethical appropriateness of the proposed health care; and (iii) requirements for a written explanation of the decision reached by the interdisciplinary medical review committee, which shall be included in the patient's medical record. Such policy shall ensure that the patient, his agent, or the person authorized to make medical decisions pursuant to § 54.1-2986 (a) are informed of the patient's right to obtain his medical record and to obtain an independent medical opinion and (b) afforded reasonable opportunity to participate in the medical review committee meeting. Nothing in such policy shall prevent the patient, his agent, or the person authorized to make medical decisions pursuant to § 54.1-2986 from obtaining legal counsel to represent the patient or from seeking other remedies available at law, including seeking court review, provided that the patient, his agent, or the person authorized to make medical decisions pursuant to § 54.1-2986, or legal counsel provides written notice to the chief executive officer of the hospital within 14 days of the date on which the physician's determination that proposed medical treatment is medically or ethically inappropriate is documented in the patient's medical record;

22. Shall require every hospital with an emergency department to establish protocols to ensure that security personnel of the emergency department, if any, receive training appropriate to the populations served by the emergency department, which may include training based on a trauma-informed approach in identifying and safely addressing situations involving patients or other persons who pose a risk of harm to themselves or others due to mental illness or substance abuse or who are experiencing a mental health crisis;

23. Shall require that each hospital establish a protocol requiring that, before a health care provider arranges for air medical transportation services for a patient who does not have an emergency medical condition as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd(e)(1), the hospital shall provide the patient or his authorized representative with written or electronic notice that the patient (i) may have a choice of transportation by an air medical transportation provider or medically appropriate ground transportation by an emergency medical services provider and (ii) will be responsible for charges incurred for such transportation in the event that the provider is not a contracted network provider of the patient's health insurance carrier or such charges are not otherwise covered in full or in part by the patient's health insurance plan;

24. Shall establish an exemption from the requirement to obtain a license to add temporary beds in an existing hospital or nursing home, including beds located in a temporary structure or satellite location operated by the hospital or nursing home, provided that the ability remains to safely staff services across the existing hospital or nursing home, (i) for a period of no more than the duration of the Commissioner's determination plus 30 days when the Commissioner has determined that a natural or man-made disaster has caused the evacuation of a hospital or nursing home and that a public health emergency exists due to a shortage of hospital or nursing home beds or (ii) for a period of no more than the duration of the emergency order entered pursuant to § 32.1-13 or 32.1-20 plus 30 days when the Board, pursuant to § 32.1-13, or the Commissioner, pursuant to § 32.1-20, has entered an emergency order for the purpose of suppressing a nuisance dangerous to public health or a communicable, contagious, or infectious disease or other danger to the public life and health;

25. Shall establish protocols to ensure that any patient scheduled to receive an elective surgical procedure for which the patient can reasonably be expected to require outpatient physical therapy as a follow-up treatment after discharge is informed that he (i) is expected to require outpatient physical therapy as a follow-up treatment and (ii) will be required to select a physical therapy provider prior to being discharged from the hospital;

26. Shall permit nursing home staff members who are authorized to possess, distribute, or administer medications to residents to store, dispense, or administer cannabis oil to a resident who has been issued a valid written certification for the use of cannabis oil in accordance with subsection B of § 54.1-3408.3 and has registered with the Board of Pharmacy;

27. Shall require each hospital with an emergency department to establish a protocol for the treatment and discharge of individuals experiencing a substance use-related emergency, which shall include provisions for (i) appropriate screening and assessment of individuals experiencing substance use-related emergencies to identify medical interventions necessary for the treatment of the individual in the emergency department and (ii) recommendations for follow-up care following discharge for any patient identified as having a substance use disorder, depression, or mental health disorder, as appropriate, which may include, for patients who have been treated for substance use-related

emergencies, including opioid overdose, or other high-risk patients, (a) the dispensing of naloxone or other opioid antagonist used for overdose reversal pursuant to subsection X of § 54.1-3408 at discharge or (b) issuance of a prescription for and information about accessing naloxone or other opioid antagonist used for overdose reversal, including information about accessing naloxone or other opioid antagonist used for overdose reversal at a community pharmacy, including any outpatient pharmacy operated by the hospital, or through a community organization or pharmacy that may dispense naloxone or other opioid antagonist used for overdose reversal without a prescription pursuant to a statewide standing order. Such protocols may also provide for referrals of individuals experiencing a substance use-related emergency to peer recovery specialists and community-based providers of behavioral health services, or to providers of pharmacotherapy for the treatment of drug or alcohol dependence or mental health diagnoses;

28. During a public health emergency related to COVID-19, shall require each nursing home and certified nursing facility to establish a protocol to allow each patient to receive visits, consistent with guidance from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and as directed by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and the Board. Such protocol shall include provisions describing (i) the conditions, including conditions related to the presence of COVID-19 in the nursing home, certified nursing facility, and community, under which in-person visits will be allowed and under which in-person visits will not be allowed and visits will be required to be virtual; (ii) the requirements with which in-person visitors will be required to comply to protect the health and safety of the patients and staff of the nursing home or certified nursing facility; (iii) the types of technology, including interactive audio or video technology, and the staff support necessary to ensure visits are provided as required by this subdivision; and (iv) the steps the nursing home or certified nursing facility will take in the event of a technology failure, service interruption, or documented emergency that prevents visits from occurring as required by this subdivision. Such protocol shall also include (a) a statement of the frequency with which visits, including virtual and in-person, where appropriate, will be allowed, which shall be at least once every 10 calendar days for each patient; (b) a provision authorizing a patient or the patient's personal representative to waive or limit visitation, provided that such waiver or limitation is included in the patient's health record; and (c) a requirement that each nursing home and certified nursing facility publish on its website or communicate to each patient or the patient's authorized representative, in writing or via electronic means, the nursing home's or certified nursing facility's plan for providing visits to patients as required by this subdivision;

29. Shall require each hospital, nursing home, and certified nursing facility to establish and implement policies to ensure the permissible access to and use of an intelligent personal assistant provided by a patient, in accordance with such regulations, while receiving inpatient services. Such policies shall ensure protection of health information in accordance with the requirements of the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 42 U.S.C. § 1320d et seq., as amended. For the purposes of this subdivision, "intelligent personal assistant" means a combination of an electronic device and a specialized software application designed to assist users with basic tasks using a combination of natural language processing and artificial intelligence, including such combinations known as "digital assistants" or "virtual assistants";

30. During a declared public health emergency related to a communicable disease of public health threat, shall require each hospital, nursing home, and certified nursing facility to establish a protocol to allow patients to receive visits from a rabbi, priest, minister, or clergy of any religious denomination or sect consistent with guidance from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services and subject to compliance with any executive order, order of public health, Department guidance, or any other applicable federal or state guidance having the effect of limiting visitation. Such protocol may restrict the frequency and duration of visits and may require visits to be conducted virtually using interactive audio or video technology. Any such protocol may require the person visiting a patient pursuant to this subdivision to comply with all reasonable requirements of the hospital, nursing home, or certified nursing facility adopted to protect the health and safety of the person, patients, and staff of the hospital, nursing home, or certified nursing facility; and

31. Shall require that every hospital that makes health records, as defined in § 32.1-127.1:03, of patients who are minors available to such patients through a secure website shall make such health records available to such patient's parent or guardian through such secure website, unless the hospital cannot make such health record available in a manner that prevents disclosure of information, the disclosure of which has been denied pursuant to subsection F of § 32.1-127.1:03 ~~or for which consent required in accordance with subsection E of § 54.1-2969 has not been provided.~~

C. Upon obtaining the appropriate license, if applicable, licensed hospitals, nursing homes, and certified nursing facilities may operate adult day care centers.

D. All facilities licensed by the Board pursuant to this article which provide treatment or care for hemophiliacs and, in the course of such treatment, stock clotting factors, shall maintain records of all lot numbers or other unique identifiers for such clotting factors in order that, in the event the lot is found to

674 be contaminated with an infectious agent, those hemophiliacs who have received units of this
675 contaminated clotting factor may be apprised of this contamination. Facilities which have identified a lot
676 that is known to be contaminated shall notify the recipient's attending physician and request that he
677 notify the recipient of the contamination. If the physician is unavailable, the facility shall notify by mail,
678 return receipt requested, each recipient who received treatment from a known contaminated lot at the
679 individual's last known address.

680 E. Hospitals in the Commonwealth may enter into agreements with the Department of Health for the
681 provision to uninsured patients of naloxone or other opioid antagonists used for overdose reversal.

682 **§ 54.1-2404.1. Patient records.**

683 Any health care provider who makes health records, as defined in § 32.1-127.1:03, of patients who
684 are minors available to such patients through a secure website shall make all such health records
685 available to such patient's parent or guardian through such secure website, unless the health care
686 provider cannot make such health record available in a manner that prevents disclosure of information,
687 the disclosure of which has been denied pursuant to subsection F of § 32.1-127.1:03 ~~or for which~~
688 ~~consent required in accordance with subsection E of § 54.1-2969 has not been provided.~~

689 **§ 54.1-2969. Authority to consent to surgical and medical treatment of certain minors.**

690 A. Whenever any minor who has been separated from the custody of his parent or guardian is in
691 need of surgical or medical treatment, authority commensurate with that of a parent in like cases is
692 conferred, for the purpose of giving consent to such surgical or medical treatment, as follows:

693 1. Upon judges with respect to minors whose custody is within the control of their respective courts.
694 2. Upon local directors of social services or their designees with respect to (i) minors who are
695 committed to the care and custody of the local board by courts of competent jurisdiction, (ii) minors
696 who are taken into custody pursuant to § 63.2-1517, and (iii) minors who are entrusted to the local
697 board by the parent, parents or guardian, when the consent of the parent or guardian cannot be obtained
698 immediately and, in the absence of such consent, a court order for such treatment cannot be obtained
699 immediately.

700 3. Upon the Director of the Department of Corrections or the Director of the Department of Juvenile
701 Justice or his designees with respect to any minor who is sentenced or committed to his custody.

702 4. Upon the principal executive officers of state institutions with respect to the wards of such
703 institutions.

704 5. Upon the principal executive officer of any other institution or agency legally qualified to receive
705 minors for care and maintenance separated from their parents or guardians, with respect to any minor
706 whose custody is within the control of such institution or agency.

707 6. Upon any person standing in loco parentis, or upon a conservator or custodian for his ward or
708 other charge under disability.

709 B. Whenever the consent of the parent or guardian of any minor who is in need of surgical or
710 medical treatment is unobtainable because such parent or guardian is not a resident of the
711 Commonwealth or his whereabouts is unknown or he cannot be consulted with promptness reasonable
712 under the circumstances, authority commensurate with that of a parent in like cases is conferred, for the
713 purpose of giving consent to such surgical or medical treatment, upon judges of juvenile and domestic
714 relations district courts.

715 C. Whenever delay in providing medical or surgical treatment to a minor may adversely affect such
716 minor's recovery and no person authorized in this section to consent to such treatment for such minor is
717 available within a reasonable time under the circumstances, no liability shall be imposed upon qualified
718 emergency medical services personnel as defined in § 32.1-111.1 at the scene of an accident, fire or
719 other emergency, a licensed health professional, or a licensed hospital by reason of lack of consent to
720 such medical or surgical treatment. However, in the case of a minor 14 years of age or older who is
721 physically capable of giving consent, such consent shall be obtained first.

722 D. Whenever delay in providing transportation to a minor from the scene of an accident, fire or other
723 emergency prior to hospital admission may adversely affect such minor's recovery and no person
724 authorized in this section to consent to such transportation for such minor is available within a
725 reasonable time under the circumstances, no liability shall be imposed upon emergency medical services
726 personnel as defined in § 32.1-111.1, by reason of lack of consent to such transportation. However, in
727 the case of a minor 14 years of age or older who is physically capable of giving consent, such consent
728 shall be obtained first.

729 E. A minor shall be deemed an adult for the purpose of consenting to:

730 1. Medical or health services needed to determine the presence of or to treat venereal disease or any
731 infectious or contagious disease that the State Board of Health requires to be reported;

732 2. Medical or health services required in case of birth control, pregnancy or family planning except
733 for the purposes of sexual sterilization;

734 3. Medical or health services needed in the case of outpatient care, treatment or rehabilitation for
735 substance abuse as defined in § 37.2-100; or

736 4. Medical or health services needed in the case of outpatient care, treatment or rehabilitation for
737 mental illness or emotional disturbance.

738 A minor shall also be deemed an adult for the purpose of accessing or authorizing the disclosure of
739 medical records related to subdivisions 1 through 4.

740 E. Except for the purposes of sexual sterilization, any minor who is or has been married shall be
741 deemed an adult for the purpose of giving consent to surgical and medical treatment.

742 G. F. A pregnant minor shall be deemed an adult for the sole purpose of giving consent for herself
743 and her child to surgical and medical treatment relating to the delivery of her child when such surgical
744 or medical treatment is provided during the delivery of the child or the duration of the hospital
745 admission for such delivery; thereafter, the minor mother of such child shall also be deemed an adult for
746 the purpose of giving consent to surgical and medical treatment for her child.

747 H. G. Any minor 16 years of age or older may, with the consent of a parent or legal guardian,
748 consent to donate blood and may donate blood if such minor meets donor eligibility requirements.
749 However, parental consent to donate blood by any minor 17 years of age shall not be required if such
750 minor receives no consideration for his blood donation and the procurer of the blood is a nonprofit,
751 voluntary organization.

752 I. H. Any judge, local director of social services, Director of the Department of Corrections, Director
753 of the Department of Juvenile Justice, or principal executive officer of any state or other institution or
754 agency who consents to surgical or medical treatment of a minor in accordance with this section shall
755 make a reasonable effort to notify the minor's parent or guardian of such action as soon as practicable.

756 J. I. Nothing in subsection G F shall be construed to permit a minor to consent to an abortion
757 without complying with § 16.1-241.

758 K. J. Nothing in subsection E shall prevent a parent, legal guardian or person standing in loco
759 parentis from obtaining (i) the results of a minor's nondiagnostic drug test when the minor is not
760 receiving care, treatment or rehabilitation for substance abuse as defined in § 37.2-100 or (ii) a minor's
761 other health records, except when the minor's treating physician, clinical psychologist, clinical social
762 worker, or licensed professional counselor has determined, in the exercise of his professional judgment,
763 that the disclosure of health records to the parent, legal guardian, or person standing in loco parentis
764 would be reasonably likely to cause substantial harm to the minor or another person pursuant to
765 subsection B of § 20-124.6.

766 K. Written informed consent of the parent or guardian of any minor shall be obtained prior to any
767 non-emergency surgical or medical treatment, mental health treatment, or immunization of such minor.

768 2. That § 16.1-339 of the Code of Virginia is repealed.